
 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

 

Finance & Delivery Policy & 
Accountability Committee 

 

Agenda 
 

Wednesday 8 November 2017 
7.00 pm 

Committee Room 2 - Hammersmith Town Hall 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration: Opposition Co-optees 

Councillor PJ Murphy (Chair) 
Councillor Guy Vincent 
Councillor Vivienne Lukey 
 

Councillor Michael Adam 
Councillor Lucy Ivimy 
 

Tony Boys 
Erik Hohenstein 
Chris Littmoden 
Judith Worthy 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Charles Francis 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 0208 753 2062 
 E-mail: charles.francis@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing impairment 
is provided, along with disabled access to the building. 
 

Date Issued: 
 

31 October 2017 
 

 
 

mailto:charles.francis@lbhf.gov.uk
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy/Committee_reports_minutes_and_agendas/Current_Committees/Homepage.asp
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Finance & Delivery Policy & 
Accountability Committee 

Agenda 
 

8 November 2017 
 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES  1 - 9 

 To approve as an accurate record, and the Chair to sign the minutes of 
the meeting held on 6 September 2017. 
 

 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee. 
 

 

4.   PAY RELATED TO GENDER REPORTING  
 

10 - 19 

5.   DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS   

  Wednesday 13th December 2017  
 
 

 



 

6.   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC   

 The Committee is invited to resolve, under Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, that the public and press be excluded from the 
meeting during the consideration of the following items of business, on 
the grounds that they contain the likely disclosure of exempt information, 
as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the said Act, and that the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption currently outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 
 

 

7.   EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 

20 - 23 

8.   MANAGED SERVICE PROGRAMME REPORT- PERFORMANCE 
UPDATE  

24 - 27 

 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising wil l 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

.  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
Finance & Delivery Policy & Accountability Committee 

Open Minutes 
 

Wednesday 6 September 2017 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors PJ Murphy (Chair), Guy Vincent, Vivienne 
Lukey, Michael Adam and Lucy Ivimy 
  
Co-opted members: Tony Boys, Erik Hohenstein and Chris Littmoden 
 
Other Councillors:  
Councillor Max Schmid (Cabinet Member for Finance). 
 
Officers:  
Camilla Black (Corporate Projects Director), Kim Dero (Interim Chief Excutive), 
Mark Grimley (Director of HR), Emily Hill (Head of Corporate Finance), Hitesh 
Jolapara (Strategic Finance Director), Ian Kerns (Head of Business Continuity), 
Denise Pretio (Head of Emegency Planning) and Charles Francis (Committee 
Services) 
 

 
 

1 NOMINATIONS OF VICE-CHAIR AND CO-OPTED MEMBERS 
 
That Cllr Michael Adam be appointed as Vice-Chair of the Committee for the 
2017/18 municipal year 
 
That the following co-opted members be reappointed for the 2017/18 
municipal year:  

• Tony Boys 

• Erik Hohenstein  

• Chris Littmoden  

• Judith Worthy  
 

2 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Judith Worthy provided apologies for absence. 
 

3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4 BUDGET UPDATE 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising wil l 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Hitesh Jolapara, Strategic Finance Director, introduced the report which 
provided an update on the 2016/17 Revenue Outturn and how this compared 
to the 2017/18 Budget. 
 
He explained that all PACs received a budget report and one of the 
challenges made at Finance PAC had been that the previous budget update 
report had not provided high level comparative data in relation to the previous 
year’s budget data and the forecast for this year’s budget.  
 
Chris Littmoden thanked officers for the report but explained it was difficult to 
understand. While comparative data, ratios and trend analysis were 
important, he suggested this information did not set out clearly what the 
position was. Councill Vincent reiterated this view and explained a more 
interesting starting point would have been for officers to outline how they were 
currently doing on the budget so the Committee could hold officers to 
account. 
 
Hitesh provided an overview of the budget setting process and the various 
challenge mechanisms this went through and agreed there was scope to 
improve how this information was presented in future. In terms of this year, he 
explained revenue financial performance was reported every month at  senior 
officer level as well as at Cabinet. Based on month 2 figures, there was a 
forecast overspend of £2.8 million and this was manifesting itself in a couple 
of areas which were Children’s Services and Temporary Accommodation. 
 
Hitesh agreed to circulate the Cabinet report and at the next meeting to 
provide a single sheet summary of the main financial highlights. The Chair 
asked for this to show the budget the Council was working to, progress to 
date, last year’s position, quarter to quarter figures and the rationale for the 
variance. He also requested that the data was presented so the layman could 
understand it.  
 
Councillor Vincent suggested that Cabinet reports could be included in all 
future Finance PAC agendas to negate the need for a bespoke report. He 
suggested that Officers should use existing data sets and only produce  
further reports where the information was not available. 
 
Councillor Ivimy expressed concern about the lack of prior comparators and 
the movement in the reserves. She noted that these had reduced from £90 
million to £82.7 million and the usable reserves were down from £258 million 
to £239 million and asked for officers comments. In response, the Chair 
asked that a one page summary on reserves be provided to Councillor Ivimy.  
 
Councillor Schmid confirmed reserves had been used to fund a number of 
invest to save initiates including the successful ICT transition, the move to 
LED street lighting, the parking machine update and MSP. Chris Littmoden 
commented on the  overspend and suggested it should be expressed as 
such. 
 
Tony Boys expressed concern about the style of the report. In future, he 
suggested it could focus on value for money as well as the Council spend per 

Page 2



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising wil l 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

resident. Emily Hill provided an explanation of the challenges associated with 
generating high level reports and ensuring it had the correct balance between 
oversight and granular detail. To move matters forward, the Chair suggested  
a meeting should be arranged between himself, Hitesh and Emily to discuss 
the format and contents of future reports. 
 
Councillor Schmid explained another tool that was used for the budget setting 
process was the budget summary which was provided to Children’s and 
Adults PAC and it was suggested this could be provided to all PACs in the 
future. 
 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That the report be noted 
 

2. That Cabinet Budget reports be appended to all future Finance 
and Delivery PAC agendas for information. 

 
3. That officers provide Councillor Ivimy with a one page summary 

on Budgetary reserves. 
 

4. That officers arrange a meeting between the Chair, Hitesh 
Jolapara and Emily Hill to discuss the format of future budget 
reports. 

 
 
 

4 REVIEW OF THE 2016/17 SENIOR MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE 
RELATED PAY (PRP) SCHEME 
 
The Chair introduced Mark Grimley, the new Director of HR to his first 
Finance and Delivery PAC meeting. Mark provided an overview of a review of 
the operation of the 2016/2017 Senior Management Performance Related 
Pay (PRP) Scheme. He stated the key aim of the paper was to assess 
whether the organisation had the correct correlation between PRP and the 
outcomes the Council was looking for. 
 
It was noted that there were two elements to the new senior manager PRP 
scheme arrangements. These were a non-consolidated annual bonus award 
based on achievement of all targets and consolidated increase in base pay 
based on performance. Mark provided details about how lateral moderation 
worked and the challenge process to pay awards. An explanation was 
provided on the performance and behaviours which were needed to attain 
PRP, the use of stretch targets and the role of midyear reviews. It was noted 
that revisions to the PRP scheme meant the achievement of targets now 
affected both elements and consolidated pay increases would only be paid to 
those who scored at least a 3 on their targets.  
 
Mark explained that HR would be looking at a sample of the mid year reviews 
to assess the direction of travel. At this stage, it was anticipated the final year 
outturns, compared to the mid-year review, would show a greater focus on 

Page 3



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising wil l 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

performance and delivery against key targets linked to the performance 
scheme. It was noted that cultural change was harder to demonstrate and 
following the outcomes of the mid year review, there was a possibility 
additional targets might be added to ensure the scheme met its objective to 
deliver positive cultural change.  
 
Councillor Adam asked what the final amount paid out under the scheme was 
and whether an independent person should oversee PRP. Mark confirmed 
this was about £345k and he was confident the current process had sufficient 
oversight and challenge.  
 
Councillor Vincent asked what steps were being taken to ensure the 
objectives were being met and value for money was being achived. Kim 
explained two factors were of importance. It was noted that LBHF were 
benchmarking themselves against other London Boroughs. LBHF used a 
bonus to reward and recognise excellence as opposed to larger flat salaries 
elsewhere. In addition, Directors and Head of Service targets provided 
mechanisms to measure performance against budgets, as well as a series of 
behavioural targets were met. 
 
Developing this theme, Councillor Vincent, asked how the bonus scheme had 
delivered high performance and how it was underpinning business needs.  
Kim explained the bonus scheme would not deliver this as it did not drive the 
Management Team. Incentification was not a key driver for senior officers at 
the Council, as the culture attracted officers who had a keen interest in their 
work areas rather than purely financial remuneration. It was noted that the 
Council paid lower salaries than neighbouring Boroughs and the bonus 
scheme was a way of squeezing more value from Directors and the Directors 
pool. 
 
Councillor Ivimy asked about how labour intensive the scheme was to 
administer and whether this outweighed its advantages. Mark explained that 
PRP only affected 66 people within the organisation so would not monopolise 
officer time and data was gathered through 1:1’s and everyday conversations.  
 
Tony Boys asked about the £345K allotted to 66 people and what the mean 
salary was? Mark asked for this information to be circulated through 
Committee Services. Tony Boys suggested PRP was a way of managing 
organisational attrition and a means of addressing a high turnover of staff. In 
response, Kim provided an overview of the management structure and those 
layers of executive directors which had been removed. Kim offered to provide 
benchmarking data of senior management salaries across London, including 
the use of the supplement.  
 
Eric Hohenstein asked what was budgeted for PRP and whether the current 
pay awards exceeded that figure. Hitesh explained that in terms of £345K, 
this was allocated to service areas and was an integral part of their budgets. 
 
Tony Boys asked about the historic effectiveness of the management strata 
which had been removed. Kim provided an overview of the flatter structures 

Page 4



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising wil l 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

now in place and explained that one of the roles of the new Director of HR 
would be to review this in the future. 
 
The Chair asked about what the impact might be on the removal of the 
Executive Director level might be on organisational succession? Kim stated 
that the Assistant Director level and progression was an area under 
consideration and HR would prepare a report to Cabinet on this in the future. 
 
The Chair expressed concerns about the figures which suggested everyone 
in the PRP scheme met or exceeded expectations. As a result he felt there 
was scope for further work to be conducted around the challenge sessions to 
ensure only the highest performers were awarded PRP. Mark said this would 
be looked at in future.  
 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That the report be noted 
 

2. That officers provide information on the mean salaries to be 
circulated outside the meeting. 

 
3. That officers provided benchmarking data on senior management 

salaries across London, including the use of the supplement 
 
 

6 EMERGENCY PLANNING LESSONS LEARNED AND REVIEW 
FOLLOWING THE GRENFELL TOWER TRAGEDY 
 
Kim Dero, Interim Chief Executive, introduced the report and explained this 
was the first of a series of reports which would be presented to PAC 
examining the emergency planning lessons arising from Grenfell and 
identifying those actions which needed to be taken to enhance the Councils’ 
response functions.  
 
Given the public enquiry, criminal investigation, and the direct ramifications 
for the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea (RBKC), the Committee 
were informed that the report only considered Hammersmith and Fulham’s 
position. Kim explained that Hammersmith and Fulham’s emergency 
response had been excellent and because it already had strong systems in 
place, LBHF was able to offer assistance to RBKC in the immediate aftermath 
of the fire.  
 
Councillor Adam thanked officers for the report and their hard work in the 
aftermath but commented that he felt the report did not do justice to the 
lessons the Council had learnt. He stated the report did not provide a sense 
of what the Council could and should have done differently in light of RBKC’s 
experiences and did not address the important matter of crisis 
communications. In response, Kim explained that Officers had deliberately 
not made direct comparisons with RBKC because there was a public enquiry, 
a criminal investigation and conduct issues which had arisen in the aftermath 
which were being actively investigated. 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising wil l 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
In terms of assurance, Denise Preito, Emergency Planning Manager provided 
an overview of the Councils’ emergency response processes to illustrate how 
the Council was equipped to react. Denise explained the Council had 
developed an operational command and control structure which was based 
on Police structures. Officers had clear roles and responsibilities and knew 
who needed to be called to activate the emergency response arrangements. 
 
Information was provided on the role of Duty Silvers and how they facilitated 
the emergency response and their relationship with Welfare Bronze Officers. 
If the situation required council involvement, the duty silver would cascade the 
information down to a rota of welfare bronzes working within adult social care. 
Their role was to identify any vulnerable people within a given cordon and, 
using a system called Frameworki, to liaise with the emergency services to 
ensure information was shared efficiently and effectively.  
 
A detailed explanation was provided on rest centres and their role in housing 
up to 200 people overnight, as well as the protocols for requesting further 
assistance if the emergency escalated. The Committee noted that Grenfell 
was unprecedented, but Officers explained they were very confident that the 
borough’s initial emergency response was effective. Should a large scale 
tragedy arise in future, Officers recognised that a large scale response was 
needed and mutual aid requests would need to be made as quickly as 
possible. Details were provided on the information systems and the weekly 
information leaflets distributed to all Directors which provided details of those 
emergency response Officers on call that week. 
 
Councillor Adam reiterated his concerns about crisis communications and 
referred to a historic request concerning London Fire Brigade 
recommendations and their incorporation into Planning guidance. In 
response, Kim explained that some research had been done on crisis 
communications and apologised for the slow response to the London Fire 
Brigade which was not acceptable. It was highlighted that in the last 5 months 
a different approach to fire safety and other health and safety issues had 
been taken and an update would be provided to the Audit, Pensions and 
Standards Committee. 
 
Councillor Lukey asked about what would happen if residents chose not to 
respond to local leadership and highlighted the need to work with local 
community networks. Other concerns included the intimidation of Council staff 
which worked across different Boroughs and the need for robust emergency 
planning scenarios in the future. Kim explained a second report would discuss 
community cohesion and provide details of the ongoing work on the White 
City and Edward Woods Estates. It was noted that on 19 September a 
community resilience meeting would be taking place with community leaders 
to discuss the role of community groups and how these could be best utilised 
in the future. In terms of the impact on Council staff and lessons learnt for 
staff, Kim made a number of points which included the complexity of staff 
working across boroughs, the provision of counselling services, and excellent 
levels of commitment shown by LBHF staff. 
 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising wil l 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Kim explained she was confident that LBHFs’ immediate response would 
have been different to that of other boroughs and this area of work was a 
continuous improvement piece. She explained that one of the areas where 
more feedback would be provided was on the reassurance to communities for 
example those residents who were living in the Edward Woods Estate at the 
time of the fire and the amount of reassurance through weekend surgeries 
and Time to Talk. Other areas of support included work being conducted by 
the hotels team, Adult Social Care, and social workers from Children’s 
Services.  
 
The Chair highlighted that he did not want report writing to hinder action but 
asked when a further comprehensive report on lessons learnt could be 
produced. Kim explained that key conversations were still ongoing with the 
community but when these had occurred a report could be prepared including 
communications work, hotel work, reassurance, community resilience and 
housing for possibly the November PAC committee. On this basis, the Chair 
requested that a report be produced for the November or subsequent 
meeting. Kim confirmed that this report would be taken to all the PACs so the 
organisational learning was shared. 
 
Councillor Vincent commented that two further aspects were missing from the 
report. Firstly, a simple narrative of what the Council actually did, and 
secondly whether or not LBHF were peripheral to events and whether offers 
of assistance were accepted or rejected. 
 
In relation to RBKC, Kim confirmed that LBHF were bystanders until the 
London Gold was called in on the Friday afternoon and this was reported 
back to the Local Government Association, London Council’s and also the 
London Chief Executive’s meeting.  
 
It was noted that all 32 London Boroughs offered RBKC help. Kim explained 
LBHF had a codified emergency plan and a telephone cascade system which 
would enable the Council to respond quickly. LBHF also offered to set up a 
JustGiving.com page for monetary donations. Details were also provided on 
the work with the DCLG to establish what the situation was in LBHF and 
across London with regards to cladding, panels and how safe tower blocks 
were. An explanation was also provided on the work which was conducted 
with 90 families in the first few days and the contact work which was ongoing. 
 
In terms of business continuity, Ian Kerns explained that LBHF recognised the 
need for resources including: rest centre managers, parks police and estate 
wardens, the importance of these roles as well as the emerging lessons about 
command and control / communications. 
 
Councillor Lukey highlighted her concerns about staff working across 
boroughs. In response officers explained that to ensure LBHF was not 
exposed (with staff availability), the Council had looked at leave 
arrangements for staff across service departments and made sure all the 
emergency responders were available. Over the summer, Kim chaired a 
Service Resilience Group every day for a week which brought together all the 
Directors and key officers so that everyone was fully briefed on what action to 

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising wil l 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

take if something similar happened in LBHF and how LBHF could assist the 
other boroughs. In going forward, this meeting also ensured there was clarity 
between the Council’s role and responsibilities and working with partner 
agencies. Kim highlighted the issues there had been with some LHBF 
employees working at RBKC and the intimidation staff had suffered while 
working on that site. It was acknowledged this was a tricky area which 
required more work. 
 
Councillor Ivimy highlighted it was vital there was a flexible command 
structure. She explained that tenants and residents were the first people to 
contact the Council at the time of the emergency. Kim agreed there was 
strong local resilience in the borough and it was appropriate to use this as a 
resource in the future. 
 
Tony Boys commented that the report omitted to mention how the Council 
might avoid such an event in the future and asked what level of emergency 
the Council was equipped to respond to. Kim explained that the London Gold 
team were looking at the role of the Red Cross, the charity sector, and a 
number of other agencies which RBKC could have called in. The DCLG were 
also looking more generally at fire safety across London. In terms of how 
equipped LBHF was to respond to emergencies, officers cited a number of 
recent incidents including the Charecroft fire, a number of evacuations of 
tower blocks, gas leaks, and flooding in the borough. Officers explained that 
plans were in place for all manner of scenarios – the most common being the 
Major Incident Plan.  
 
Under the Civil Contingencies Act, Denise confirmed that every borough had 
the requirement to re-house 200 people for 2 nights at dedicated rest 
centre(s). For any incident larger than this, emergency services would control 
the incident. If a major incident was declared, then a higher level of response 
would be provided. 
 
The Chair asked when it would be possible to tell residents a similar tragedy 
could not happen in LBHF? Kim explained that LBHF were already talking to 
communities and working with the Fire Brigade to provide a degree of 
reassurance. Other active steps included disseminating the Fire Safety Plus 
leaflet. However, as the cause of the fire was part of an ongoing investigation 
no further comments could be made. Kim offered to provide further 
information about when local emergencies escalate to national ones. 
 
Councillor Adams highlighted the issue of illegal sub-letting and the difficulty 
the authorities currently had of trying to establish who was resident in the 
building at the time of the fire. Kim confirmed there was an ongoing piece of 
work that pre-dated Grenfell about illegal sub-letting and illegal tenancies and 
the Council had a robust policy in place. 
 
Councillor Schmid spoke on the work of the Business Intelligence Team to try 
and establish who was leasing accommodation in the borough. He explained 
it was a case of being smarter with the data and combining data resources.  
 

Page 8



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising wil l 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

The Chair asked about the ability of front line staff to make decisions on the 
ground and how this reflected on the culture of the organisation and the 
development of staff to allow them to facilitate their decision making abilities. 
The Chair asked whether there would be an event to thank all the staff 
involved with Grenfell. Kim confirmed this would take place in October. 
 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That the report be noted. 
 

2. That a second report be provided to the November PAC or 
subsequent meeting addressing: communities, hotel work, 
reassurance, community resilience and Housing in relation to 
emergency planning. 

 
3. That Officers provide further information on when local 

emergencies escalate to national emergencies. 
 
DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 
 
The next meeting is scheduled for Wednesday 8th November 2017. 
 

8.  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

The Committee is invited to resolve, under Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, that the public and press be excluded from the 
meeting during the consideration of the following items of business, on 
the grounds that they contain the likely disclosure of exempt information, 
as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the said Act, and that the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption currently outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 
 

9.  MANAGED SERVICE PROGRAMME REPORT - PERFORMANCE 
UPDATE - (EXEMPT REPORT) 
 
The Committee considered the progress report on managed services. 
 

Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 9:52 pm 

 
Chair   

 
Contact officer: Charles Francis 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 2062 
 E-mail: charles.francis@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 9



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

FINANCE AND DELIVERY POLICY & 
ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
8th November 2017 

 

PAY RELATED TO GENDER REPORTING 
 

Report of the interim Director of Human Resources and Organisational 
Development – Mark Grimley 
 

Open Report 
 
 

Classification: For review and comment 
Key Decision: No 
 

Consultation: 
None 
 

Wards Affected:  
None 
 

Accountable Director: Mark Grimley, interim Director of Human Resources and 
Organisational Development  
 

Report Author: 
Mark Grimley 
 
 

Contact Details: 
 mark.grimley@lbhf.gov.uk  
 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. In advance of the statutory publication of the Council’s gender pay gap under 

the revised Regulations for equal pay and gender reporting the Finance and 
Delivery PAC has requested information to help inform their lines of enquiry 
into the Council’s current position for gender pay parity and future activities to 
improve where required.  
 

1.2. The Council publishes its Pay Policy Statement each year in April, following 
approval by Full Council. The statement is required to provide transparency 
on pay practises.  

 
1.3. The data used in this report covers only basic pay.  The full gender pay 

reporting is required to look at bonuses and additional payments.  
 
 

Page 10

Agenda Item 4

mailto:mark.grimley@lbhf.gov.uk


2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 

2.1. That the Committee note the current position of the differences in pay 
between male and female employees and make any observations for any key 
lines of enquiry for the future Gender Pay Gap report.  

 
2.2. That the Committee receive and consider the draft Gender Pay Report and 

the Council’s Pay Policy Statement on the 16th January 2018 in advance of 
Full Council.  
 

 
 

3. REPORT  
 
3.1  Excluding agency, contractors and casual workers the Council has 1,816 

employees.  57.2 per cent of our employees are female, with 42.8 per cent 
male. (Excludes school employees) 

 
3.2  The Council has a legal obligation under successive legislation and 

Regulations to ensure that they promote and continually review equal pay 
across genders and other factors affecting equal treatment of employees. 
Additional Regulations for public sector bodies came into effect in March 2017 
which now require the Council to publish the gender pay gap and to use this 
data to inform actions to reduce and eradicate gender pay disparity where it 
exists.  

 
3.3 The most recent national data indicates that nationally the United Kingdom has 

an unadjusted pay gap of 21 per cent – this means women earn on average 21 
per cent less than men. (source: Eurostat, March 2017 – date from 2015 pay 
and earnings survey).  The European average is 16 per cent.  

 
3.4  The Council recognises the benefit of having transparent, fair and equal pay as 

a means of attracting and retaining a high-quality workforce and it is an 
essential aspect of our future talent strategy.  We have a number of policies 
and statements stating our commitment to equality of opportunity and fair and 
equal treatment for all employees irrespective of any protected characteristics 
or personal circumstances.  

 
3.5  The Council has a number of pay schemes across the organisation, reflecting 

the complex structure and work across a range of functions. The Council has 
adopted the Greater London Provincial Council (GLPC) job evaluation scheme 
to evaluate all roles and ensure that like-for-like duties are reflected with the 
same grades.  We have the national pay scales (NJC for Local Government) 
and a defined scheme for senior managers creating 15 grades throughout the 
organisation.  These schemes cover 63.7 per cent of the organisation.  Other 
schemes reflect the arrangements of staff on other national terms and 
conditions (for example transferred health staff, employees transferred from 
other employers, those on spot-point salaries).  

 

Page 11



3.6 The Council also has in place a number of bonus schemes in operation 
covering some, but not all, of the workforce.  At the same time, a number of 
variable wage elements (for example, overtime, weekend working, unsociable 
hours) also affect the total take-home pay between workers.  This report only 
focuses on basic pay determined by the main NJC pay scales at this point.  

 
3.7  Table 1, demonstrates the distribution of employees by gender across the 

Council. Table 2 illustrates that significantly more female employees as a 
percentage also undertake part-time work.  

 
 
Table One: Distribution of gender across Council service areas 
 

Service Area 
Female 

Percentage 
Male 

Percentage 

Bi-Borough Environment, Leisure and Resident Services 39.3 60.7 

Bi-Borough Human Resources 78.9 21.1 

Bi-Borough Transport and Technical Services 33.4 66.6 

Delivery and Value 45.7 54.3 

Finance and Corporate Services 60.8 39.2 

Housing and Regeneration 56.3 43.8 
Tri-Borough ASC and NHS Integrated Commissioning 
Department 68.0 32.0 

Tri-Borough Children's Services 82.3 17.7 

Tri-Borough Corporate Services 45.3 54.7 

Tri-borough Libraries and Archives 64.0 36.0 

Tri-Borough Public Health 50.0 50.0 

Council average percentages 57.2 42.8 
 
Please note, where there are bi-borough and tri-borough service areas, we have only 
included information relating to employees of LB Hammersmith and Fulham.  

 
 
 
 

Table Two: Full-time equivalent (full time and part time employees by gender) 
 
FTE = Full time equivalent.  A full-time employee undertakes 36 hours per week. 
Hours worked less than this is a part of an FTE, e.g. 18 hours is 0.5 FTE. 
 

FTE  

Female 
Percentage 

Male 
Percentage 

0 - 0.5 FTE 77.5 22.5 

0.5 - 0.9 FTE 80.6 19.4 

1.0 FTE 53.6 46.4 

All 57.2 42.8 
 

Page 12



 
3.8 The simplest form of illustrating any pay gaps is through an analysis of the 

grades and gender distribution.  Table 3 shows the percentage representation 
at each grade by gender and the percentage of female pay to male pay.  The 
summary of this data is that the average basic salary for females is £34,589 
compared to an average salary for males of £37,200.  The mean salary for all 
employees is £35,501. A variation of £2,611 or females earning 93% of the 
average male salary.  

 
3.9  The variation across the whole-council is demonstrated by the cumulative 

percentages (Chart One) where there are more females at lower grades than 
males, creating a lower average basic wage.  However, the in-grade variation 
requires further explanation.  

 
 
  

Page 13



Table Three: Gender distribution by grade with in-grade variance on pay levels 
 

 

Percentage 
Female 

Percentage 
Male 

Female 
percentage 
of earnings 
compared 
to males 

Value of difference (negative is 
females are lower than males) 

£ ’s 

SO1 59.2 40.8 94.2 (1,723) 

SO2 66.1 33.9 93.7 (2,111) 

PO1 61.0 39.0 96.3 (1,280) 

PO2 59.0 41.0 96.1 (1,396) 

PO3 60.5 39.5 97.8 (853) 

PO4 46.6 53.4 98.8 (499) 

PO5 63.2 36.8 96.9 (1,351) 

PO6 48.4 51.6 100.0 (14) 

PO7 54.2 45.8 92.1 (3,844) 

PO8 54.3 45.7 97.6 (1,238) 

PO9 47.4 52.6 95.6 (2,412) 

PO10 44.0 56.0 94.1 (3,354) 

SMG3 34.0 66.0 103.4 2,303 

SMG2 58.8 41.2 97.2 (3,060) 

SMG1 100.0 0.0 100.0 
 

     Mean Figures, Whole Council  -7 % (1,723) 
 
 
  

Page 14



Chart One: Cumulative representation of female and males in the workforce by 
increasing grade /salary.  
 

 
3.10 The cumulative representation within the workforce has 80% per cent of the 

female population at grade PO5 and below (£42,661 to £42,651) whereas the 
male population reaches this point at PO7 (£47,291 to £50,115).  The Council 
average is PO6 (£44,497 to £47,291).  This suggests that progression and 
representation in higher paid roles is a challenge for the Council to address 
some of the average pay disparity.  

 
3.11 The in-grade disparity is not explained by the in-grade progression 

opportunities.  The lower grades (S01, S02 and PO1 to PO5) have the widest 
percentage progression opportunities through the grade with between 5.2 per 
cent and 8.0 per cent, however, the lower progression opportunities are at the 
SO1 and SO2 levels where there is greater representation of females.   
Across all grades there is fairly consistent percentage grade progression until 
the most senior roles (SMG1, SMG2 and SMG3) where there is a wider band 
for progression – and coincidentally greater pay parity.  
 

3.12  This suggests that fundamentally the Council’s main pay and grading system 
is fit for purpose. The key issue appears to be representation of females in 
higher paid roles.  

 
3.13  The in-grade disparity raises the hypothesis, to be tested prior to the Gender 

Pay Reporting, that females have a shorter tenure within the grades and 
therefore start on the bottom spine point and are yet to progress to the higher 
points, whereas the higher percentage of males are already on the higher 
spine points. The variances in Table three are consistent with this hypothesis.  

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

100.0

SO1 SO2 PO1 PO2 PO3 PO4 PO5 PO6 PO7 PO8 PO9 PO10 SMG3 SMG2 SMG1

Chart One: Cumulative percentage of grade distribution by 
gender 

Female Cumulative Male Cumulative Council Cumulative

Page 15



 
4. OTHER VARIABLE FACTORS IN PAY  
 
4.1  The Council have a number of schemes and terms of employment that vary 

take-home pay that the full Gender Pay Report should consider.   
 
4.2 At senior pay levels, the Audit, Pensions and Standards Committee are 

providing oversight of the performance-related pay scheme (PRP).  The PRP 
scheme is based on two factors – performance against targets resulting in a 
consolidated pay award and a non-consolidated pay award based on the 
Council’s behaviour framework. With lower representation of females to males 
within the senior management bands covered by this arrangement, this will 
need to be examined in detail as those not covered by these arrangements 
will be subject to in-grade incremental progression (around 6 per cent over 4 
years) and the national pay award (currently 1 per cent) compared to up to 5 
per cent annual consolidated awards.  

 
4.3 Other areas have specific performance-related schemes related to income 

generation/collection and targets for the service area. Further work will need 
to be undertaken to understand whether these schemes are equitable or 
whether there is a skew of representation, in particular schemes related to:  

 

 Commercial waste 

 Civil enforcement 

 Corporate anti-fraud 

 Development management (planning) 

 Pest control 

 Rental income 

 Strategic Commissioners and adult services service managers 

 Commercial Director.  
 
4.4 Additional allowances (overtime, weekend working), unsocial hours work and 

career progression grades are all areas of take-home that also affect the 
current and future projections of gender pay.  

 
4.5 Market-factor supplements for hard-to-recruit roles will also be investigated 

and reviewed as part of the gender pay analysis to assure the Council that 
there is no bias linked to particular professions or the application of additional 
pay.  

 
 
5. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
5.1 The conduct of gender pay reviews are a requirement of the Equality Act 

2010. The Council is subject to the Public Sector Equality Duty.   
 

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

6.1. The council has a legal obligation to ensure equal pay and to prepare for the 
Gender Pay Reporting requirements.  Where there are areas of pay disparity, 

Page 16



or identified bias and inequality the Council will address these through 
Equality Impact Assessments and an Equality Action Plan.  
 

6.2. The Council is responsible for the adoption and publication of the Pay Policy 
Statement including our pay practices. Consideration should be given at the 
time of adoption to the equalities impact assessment of the Pay Policy 
Statement.  
 

6.3. Implications verified by: Rhian Davies, Monitoring Officer  
 
 

7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

7.1. The Council’s financial management and medium-term financial strategy 
includes staffing cost projections linked to our current pay and grading 
structures.  
 

7.2. Implications verified/completed by Hitesh Jolapara, Strategic Director of 
Finance  

 
 

8. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 

8.1. None. 
 

 
9. COMMERCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
9.1. The commercial success of the Council depends upon our having transparent, 

fair and equal pay, both as a means of attracting and retaining a high-quality 
workforce and to ensure equality of opportunity and fair and equal treatment 
for all employees irrespective of any protected characteristics or personal 
circumstances. 

 
9.2. Implications verified/completed by Michael Hainge, Commercial Director  

 
10. IT IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1. None.  

 
10.2. Implications verified/completed by Veronica Barella, acting Chief Information 

Officer.  
 
  

Page 17



 
11. OTHER IMPLICATION PARAGRAPHS 

 
11.1. Workforce risks and liabilities are recorded through the Council’s Risk 

Register.  The risk for equal pay implications is low as the Council has an 
established, objective pay and grading structure comparable to other local 
authorities.   
 

11.2. Implications verified/completed by Mark Grimley, Director of Human 
Resources and Organisational Development.  

  

Page 18



 
12. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name and contact 
details of responsible 
officer 

Department/ 
Location 

 
1 

 
Pay Policy Statement 2017/18  
  

 
Mark Grimley 
Mark.grimley@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
Human Resources 
and Organisational 
Development 

 
 
 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
None 

Page 19

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/lbhf-pay-policy-report-2017-18-final.pdf

	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4 Pay Related to Gender Reporting

